
From: MassDOTCommunityGrants (DOT)
To: Undisclosed recipients:
Subject: MassDOT Providing Safe Passage for Bicyclists Signs to Municipalities
Date: Wednesday, May 10, 2023 6:59:02 PM
Attachments: Vulnerable Road User Program - MassDOT Passing Signs Grant Application MOA.pdf

MassDOT Safe Passing Sign Guidance.docx

Greetings,
 
“An Act to Reduce Fatalities” was signed into law in December 2022.  As part of the law, the
following was added. 

“In passing a vulnerable user, the operator of a motor vehicle shall pass at a safe distance of not less
than 4 feet and at a reasonable and proper speed.  The Massachusetts Department of Transportation
shall erect and maintain signage along public ways necessary to notify operators of motor vehicles of
the requirements for passing a vulnerable user from a safe distance as required by this section.”
 
While MassDOT cannot just install signs on municipal roadways, the position has been taken to
provide the signage and materials to all cities and towns so that they can be installed on roadways
within their own jurisdiction.  Guidance on location and installation of the signs can be found in the
attached file named MassDOT Safe Passing Sign Guidance.docx
 

 
If cities/towns are interested in obtaining the signs and materials (they will be delivered directly to
the community) from MassDOT, please let us know your intention and interest in receiving signs
(how many signs of each size) as soon as possible.
 

Please complete, sign, and return the attached Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) file
named Vulnerable Road User Program - MassDOT Passing Signs Grant Application MOA.pdf, including
Attachment B, by June 1, 2023.  Submit the completed MOA to

mailto:massdotcommunitygrants@state.ma.us
mailto:Undisclosed recipients:
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.umasstransportationcenter.org/Document.asp?DocID=1116__;!!CUhgQOZqV7M!mo9Eu0B4vDlE7NqRR67oB3Yrwzu7rz1DEZHCksefUS9B6XDWSTLkhpyu8j-9QlFsK0w1nE8gEcIY03QZwjMjt-mQ$
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MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 


This Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) is made and entered into  
by and between the Massachusetts Department of Transportation, having 
offices at 10 Park Plaza, Boston, Massachusetts 02116 (“MassDOT”) and the CITY/
TOWN of _________________, a municipal corporation within the 


Massachusetts,Commonwealth of  having offices at 
______________________________ (“Municipality”).  Municipality and MassDOT 
may hereafter sometimes be collectively referred to as the “Parties” and individually as the 
“Party.” 


WHEREAS, MassDOT has developed a program by which it provides municipalities with bike 
passage signage described in Exhibit A (“Signage” or “Signs”) for installation in municipally 
owned public roadways as a tool to reduce vulnerable road user fatalities; and 


WHEREAS, Municipality desires to participate in the program and has requested Signage to install 
in the municipally owned roadway(s) identified in Exhibit B (the, “Locations”); and  


WHEREAS, Municipality has agreed to install and maintain the Signage at the Locations 
in accordance with the terms provided herein (“Project”); and  


WHEREAS, MassDOT and Municipality seek to confirm their respective rights and obligations 
in connection with the Project as set forth in this MOA. 


NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises herein, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as 
follows: 
1. Signage.


(a) MassDOT will provide Municipality with the Signage described in Exhibit A.
MassDOT will fund the entire cost of the Signage, including the cost of delivery to
Municipality.  Title to the Materials will pass to Municipality upon delivery.


(b) It is understood and agreed that MassDOT’s procurement of the Signage is contingent
upon availability and continued appropriation of federal and/or state funds, and if for
any reason whatsoever, such funds are terminated or reduced or otherwise become
unavailable, MassDOT may terminate this MOA in whole or in part.


2. Installation.


(a) Municipality, at its sole expense, shall install the Signage at the Locations.  Aside from
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the materials provided by MassDOT, Municipality shall provide all necessary labor, 
materials, equipment, and other services necessary to install the Signs in accordance 
with vendor specifications.    


(b) Each Sign must be installed in conformance with the requirements of Section 2 of the
2009 Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD).


(c) Municipality is solely responsible for evaluating the specific site constraints for each
Location and for providing all necessary traffic control devices and/or police details
necessary to safely complete the Project.


(d) Municipality agrees and acknowledges that the Signage must be installed within the
public layout on a municipally owned roadway. Municipality shall obtain, at its sole
cost and expense, any and all applicable permits, approvals, including local approvals,
and/or clearances required by local and state agencies, commissions, or bodies
necessary for the completion of the Project prior to installing the Signage.


(e) Municipality shall install each Sign within ninety (90) days of its delivery to
Municipality.  If Municipality cannot complete the installation within the ninety-day
period, Municipality shall promptly, at its sole expense, return the uninstalled Signs
to MassDOT by delivering the Signage to the location designated by MassDOT.


(f) Upon the completion of the Project, Municipality shall provide MassDOT with
photographic documentation of the installed Signage, along with documentation
evidencing the date of installation for each Sign.


3. Future Maintenance.
Municipality shall, at its sole expense, be responsible for the maintenance and upkeep of the
Signage used for the Project.   Municipality shall maintain the installed Signs in good repair
throughout the Signs’ useful life. MassDOT shall not be responsible for the replacement
of the Signs at the end of their useful life.   Notwithstanding anything contained herein to
the contrary, Municipality’s maintenance obligations shall survive the expiration or
termination of this MOA.


4. Term.


This MOA shall be effective as of the date of full execution by Municipality and


MassDOT and, unless terminated earlier as provided herein, shall expire on


August 31, 2025.


5. Termination.
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This MOA may be terminated by mutual agreement of the Parties, upon such terms and 
conditions as the Parties may mutually agree upon.  Such termination shall be effective in 
accordance with a written agreement by the Parties.  Termination under this section shall 
not constitute a waiver of the rights of either Party to damages or other remedies related 
to this MOA, except to the extent that the mutual agreement terminating this MOA so 
specifies. 


MassDOT may, by written notice to the Municipality, also terminate this MOA if the 
Municipality neglects or fails to comply with any provision of this MOA in accordance with 
its terms or within the time specified for performance herein.  In the event this MOA is 
terminated pursuant to this provision or Section 1(b) above, MassDOT shall not be liable to 
the Municipality for any costs incurred or burdens assumed upon or subsequent to, and 
associated with, such termination. 


6. Compliance with Laws.


Municipality, in meeting its obligations hereunder, shall comply with all applicable federal,
state, county, municipal and other governmental statues, laws, rules, orders, regulations and
ordinances.


7. Indemnification.


To the extent permitted by the laws of the Commonwealth, Municipality shall indemnify,
defend (at Municipality’s sole expense and with counsel reasonably acceptable to MassDOT),
and hold harmless MassDOT and all of MassDOT’s officers, agents, and employees, from and
against any and all suits, claims, proceedings, liabilities, losses damages, penalties, charges
and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and experts’ fees) of every name and nature, based on
or arising out of any actual or alleged loss or injury (including death) to persons or damage to
real or tangible property that are caused or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by, or to
arise out of the acts or omissions of, Municipality, or its employees, contractors,
subcontractors, or agents, in its performance of the obligations set forth herein. The foregoing
indemnification obligations shall survive the expiration of this MOA.


8. Successors and Assigns.


This MOA shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their
permitted successors and assigns.  This MOA may not be assigned without the prior written
consent of MassDOT.
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9. Notice.


Any notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be given in writing and shall be
delivered (a) in person, (b) by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt
requested, or (c) by a commercial overnight courier that guarantees next day delivery and
provides a receipt.  Such notices shall be addressed as follows:


If to MassDOT: Massachusetts Department of Transportation 
Highway Division of Traffic & Safety Engineering 
10 Park Plaza 
Boston, MA 02116 
Attention:  _______________ 


     If to Municipality:   ____________________________ 
____________________________ 
____________________________ 
____________________________ 
Attention:  ___________________ 


or to such other address as either Party may from time to time specify in writing to the other 
Party. Any notice shall be effective only upon delivery. 


10. Authority.


The individuals executing this MOA represent that they are empowered and duly authorized
to so execute this MOA on behalf of the Parties they represent.


11. Miscellaneous.


This MOA represents the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof, superseding any prior oral or written agreements or understandings regarding
the same, and any modification amendment or change to the terms and conditions hereof shall
be binding only when expressed in writing and signed by both Parties hereto.  This MOA may
be signed in multiple counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  This MOA shall be
governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, without regard to its choice of law rules.  If any provision or condition of this


Neil Boudreau 
Assistant Administrator for Traffic & Safety
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MOA shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions and conditions shall 
remain in full force and effect and shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted 
by law. 


REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 
SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Municipality and MassDOT have caused this MOA to be executed 
by their duly authorized officers or representatives as of the date first above written.  


MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION 


By: _____________________________ 
Name:  
Title:   
Date: 


Name:    
Title:   
Date: 


MUNICIPALITY 


*Please use a digital signature if available to you. If not 
available,  please print and sign the completed form, 
scan, and email an attachment of the signed copy.


By: _____________________________ 







Exhibit A 


Signs shall be mounted on single 2.25 inch by 2.25 inch square tube posts conforming 
to Subsections 840.60 and M8.18.3 of the MassDOT Standard Specifications.  Signs 
shall be installed in accordance with the requirements and guidance provided in Section 
2A.16 and Figure 2A-2 of the MUTCD. 







Exhibit B: Sign Delivery Information 
Town ________________ 
Total Small Signs ________________ 
Total Large Signs ________________ 


Delivery Point of Contact 
Name ________________ 
Phone Number ________________ 
Email Address ________________ 


Delivery Location  
Address ________________ 
Town ________________________ 
Zip code ________________ 


Anticipated Installation Location Street Name List: 


1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.





		Vulnerable Road User Program - MassDOT MOU with Municipalities DRAFT PDF_Request

		Vulnerable Road User Program - MassDOT MOU with Municipalities - v.4 to PDF DRAFT

		signs - safe passing DRAFT



		Exhibit B  Sign Delivery DRAFT



		a municipal corporation within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts: 

		Location Name: 

		Street Address: 

		Town: 

		Zip Code: 

		Attention_2: 

		Name: 

		Name_2: 

		Title: 

		Date: 

		Full Town Name: 

		Number of Small Signs: 

		Number of Large Signs: 

		First and Last Name: 

		Phone Number: 

		Email Address: 

		Delivery Street Address: 

		Delivery Town: 

		Delivery Zip Code: 

		Full Street Name: 

		Municipal Title: 

		Date Signed by Municipality: 

		Full Street Name2: 

		Full Street Name3: 

		Full Street Name4: 

		Full Street Name5: 

		Full Street Name6: 

		Full Street Name7: 

		Full Street Name8: 

		Full Street Name9: 

		Full Street Name10: 

		Full Street Name11: 

		Full Street Name12: 

		Full Street Name13: 

		Full Street Name14: 

		Full Street Name15: 

		Full Street Name16: 

		Full Street Name17: 

		Full Street Name1: 

		Full Street Name18: 

		Full Street Name19: 

		Full Street Name20: 

		Full Street Name21: 

		Full Street Name22: 

		Full Street Name23: 

		Municipality Address: 






In accordance with An Act to Reduce Traffic Fatalities, MassDOT has developed a standard regulatory sign to remind drivers about the 4-foot minimum safe passing distance. While this distance applies to passing all vulnerable road users, the sign was created to emphasize passing bicyclists, who are likely to be the most common vulnerable road user that a motor vehicle operator will encounter.

The Safe Bicycle Passing sign has been designed in two different sizes. The standard sign is 24” x 30” and is suitable for roads with speed limits of 30 mph or less. A larger sign, 30” x 36”, may be used on roads with speed limits of 35+ mph.

Safe Bicycle Passing signs of either size are designed to be installed on a single u-channel or square tube post. They should not be co-located on signposts with other regulatory, warning, or directional signs.

The use and placement of the Safe Bicycle Passing sign should be based upon an order of precedence. Existing regulatory signs that are site-specific such as Stop, Speed Limit, or a turn prohibition should have the highest priority. Warning signs such as those used for pedestrian crossings, curves, or school zones should have the next highest priority. Directional signs providing information on destinations or point of turn instructions should have the third highest priority. The Safe Bicycle Passing sign should be next in order. In most urban or lower speed roads, a minimum of 100’ between any two signs is needed, regardless of priority. As posted roadway speed limits increase, sign spacing should increase accordingly. In the absence of official regulatory speed limits, the statutory (default) speed limit should be used to gage the sign spacing. 

The Safe Bicycle Passing sign will be most effective if used judiciously and in areas that will attract the most attention from drivers. As with all signs, if it is used excessively, it will lose its effectiveness. MassDOT recommends prioritizing higher volume or classification roads and other roads that are expected to attract bicyclists. When examining where on those roads to place the signs, the following locations should be considered:

· Areas of roads that have limited shoulder or bike lane width where a motor vehicle may have to cross the yellow center lines to safely pass a bicyclist.

· Roads that lack marked bicycle facilities, especially if marked bicycle facilities exist upstream.

· Business or commercial districts that have curbside parking.

· Downstream of traffic signals or other major intersections.

· Areas close to state borders where out-of-state drivers are typically found.

If the Safe Bicycle Passing sign is installed on or overhangs a sidewalk, the minimum height from the sidewalk to the bottom of the sign shall be 7’. If installed where no sidewalk is present, the height may be reduced to 5’.

Please note that this new law applies to all roadways, regardless of whether the Safe Bicycle Passing is posted. The sign is only a reminder to drivers of the rules of the road.



Ranjit Sivasubra (ranjit.sivasubra@dot.state.ma.us).  If you have any questions, please reach out to
Ranjit directly.
 

 

Thank you, 
MassDOT Traffic & Safety Group 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

mailto:
https://www.mass.gov/orgs/massachusetts-department-of-transportation

